Air Quality Strategy to Reduce Coronavirus Infection

All Party Parliamentary Group Air Pollution

June 2020

Contents

Foreword	3
Focus and principles	6
Economic benefits of Clean Air	7
Proposal 1: Working	8
Proposal 2: Cycling and	9
pedestrianisation	
Proposal 3: Public transport	10
Proposal 4: Private transport	11
Proposal 5: Face masks	12
Proposal 6: Wood and coal burning	13
Proposal 7: Agriculture	14
Proposal 8: Home delivery services	15
Proposal 9: Indoor air quality	16
Proposal 10: Sustainable industry	17
Proposal 11: Data collection and	18
research	
Proposal 12: The Environment Bill	19
Bibliography	20

Foreword

Covid-19 has stopped the world in its tracks. A global lockdown to suppress the virus and protect the public has transformed the way we have lived, worked and interacted with each other and, in that process, significantly reduced air pollution. This is important for our public health and for research into how cleaner air improves health outcomes and reduces the risks from Covid-19. In turn, this underlines the importance of a comprehensive air quality strategy as we emerge from Lockdown.

Across Europe air pollution accounts for 470,000 premature deaths each year including 64,000 in the UK. It is therefore essential that governments focus on how we can reduce air pollution as we move into recovery through policies that deliver a sustainable future including ambitious air quality targets.

We know that people who have been exposed to ongoing high levels of air pollution have weakened lungs and hearts so are more vulnerable to infection. Various studies in the US, China and Europe have identified the strong correlation between areas of high air pollution and Covid-19 deaths.

In addition, emerging evidence suggests that short term exposure to air pollution increases the risk of coronavirus infection. This may be explained by pollution inflaming the lungs, making them more susceptible to a respiratory virus. Separately, Queen Mary University of London research suggests an interaction between particulates and ACE2, the Covid-19 receptor. It shows that short term exposure to traffic-related PM2.5 pollution increases the amount of the receptor for SARS-COV-2 on airway cells suggesting a biological association between air pollution and Covid-19. This follows an earlier Tasmanian study into the interaction between smoking and ACE2 giving rise to greater virus infection.

Air pollution may also carry the virus further afield. A study published in the New England Journal of Medicine finds the virus can remain infectious and airborne for hours and explores how pollution may transport Coronavirus through the air.

It is therefore essential that the government ensures pollution remains low. All the proposals in the document focus on reducing pollution and Covid infection. Some can be introduced immediately and will help to ensure that a second peak does not overwhelm the NHS after lockdown. All will deliver cleaner air over subsequent years to help to ensure better public health, less strain on the NHS and greater resilience against future pandemics. The call for evidence that informed this document was sent to all MPs and the hundreds of APPG members and supporters, academics and businesses. I am grateful to all

those who submitted evidence and continue to work for Cleaner Air.

Geraint Davies
Chair of the APPG Air Pollution,

The APPG's Focus and principles

The APPG on Air Pollution has long worked on reducing damaging air pollution, but Covid-19 has increased the challenge and urgency. The primary focus of this report is to mitigate the impact of pollution on Covid-19 and future viruses based on the following principles:

SCIENCE-BASED: all proposals have been made in collaboration with scientists and on the basis of academic research.

HOLISTIC: this strategy aims to tackle air pollution wherever it is produced, from villages to cities; outdoors to indoors; and aviation to agriculture

INCLUSIVE: adaptations will need to be made with equality considerations so we can all feel the benefit of cleaner air.

REALISTIC: air pollution is the consequence of activity. We seek to mitigate the worst impacts of air pollution, while recognising air pollution will continue to exist.

Economic Benefits of Clean Air

The cost of poor health related to air pollution has been estimated at £20bn in the UK each year, which was calculated before Coronavirus, and is likely to be significantly higher.

Policies promoting Clean Air will both impact public health and create innovation, jobs and investment in sustainable industries forming an exports platform for the UK. Therefore, policies to improve air quality are part of a wider renaissance in greening the economy and will also improve local economies and individuals' spending power.

Proposal 1: Working

Lock-down has forced people to stay at home. It is crucial that people are encouraged and supported to continue to keep air pollution low and to reduce the pressure on public transport.

- Remote working where-eve r possible with work re-engineered over time to encourage home working and to reduce travel.
- Increased digital connectivity and training plus investment in IT solutions for work.
- Stagger business and school hours.
- Flexible furlough so business can ease back into recovery
- Encourage businesses to create sustainable mobility plans
- Support construction and other industries to adopt less polluting machinery
- Offer furloughed workers training, from IT training to cycling proficiency, to supports green working and transport

Proposal 2: Cycling and pedestrianisation

Walking and cycling is the healthiest way to travel and so should be encouraged while observing social distancing.

- Repurpose traffic lanes and parking spaces for cycling and wider footways
- Invest in cycle lanes
- Promote greater pedestrianisation
- Promote children walking and cycling to school through the 'school streets approach'
- Extend bike sharing schemes
- Make cycling training courses available at learning institutions, libraries and businesses

Proposal 3: Public Transport

During the relaxation of lockdown, we must ensure public confidence when using shared services, keep transport workers safe and systematically increase support for green transport.

- Mark safe distances to ensure social distancing
- Increase service frequency to keep passenger density low
- Prioritise transport worker testing and testing at public transport entry points
- Disinfect public transport regularly
- Support for the conversion of bus fleets to electric/hydrogen
- Roll-out rail electrification and electric infrastructure for boat and ferry transport
- Improve connectivity in rural areas

Proposal 4: Private Transport

There is a risk that increased private transport as lockdown measures are reduced will increase pollution levels beyond pre-lockdown levels. Government must provide a clear message that pollution should be reduced, whilst supporting greener transport with fiscal measures and giving local government the tools to help do the job

- Non-essential vehicle travel stopped during lockdown
- Extend the Low Emission Zone, Ultra Low Emission Zone and Congestion Zone in UK cities
- Accelerate electric vehicle rollouts and infrastructure
- Introduce vehicle scrappage schemes for the older vehicles
- · Accelerate the electrification of diesel taxis
- Reduce or establish zero vehicle excise duty for electric or hydrogen vehicles
- Bring forward ban on new fossil fuel engines to 2030 at the latest
- Support greener air traffic

•

Proposal 5: Face Masks

A growing body of evidence suggests that basic face masks can be effective in reducing the spread of the virus, by reducing the range and volume of exhaled water droplets containing SARS-CoV-2. It also can encourage public confidence when using public transport and for people to remain aware of the risks. Masks that filter out particulates will also help reduce harm from pollution.

- Masks and face coverings should be actively encouraged on public transport, shops and where people gather
- Instructions for how to make masks should be made available on the Government's website
- PM2.5 filtration masks should be produced on scale for those in the most polluted areas

Proposal 6: Wood & Coal Burning

Wood burning stoves & coal fires account for 38% of the UK's PM2.5 emissions and the government has made a move to ban the most polluting fuels but should go further.

- Accelerate bans on most polluting domestic fuels like coal and wet wood
- Phase out the use of burning stoves in domestic settings
- Introduce control of fireworks and bonfires

Proposal 7: Agriculture

Farmers and farm workers have helped to feed the nation during a time when Brexit has caused them uncertainty. While the government is devising a new framework for our food production it must include reducing air pollution.

- Include air quality targets in the Agriculture Bill
- Reduce emissions from agricultural machinery
- Withdraw subsidy on red diesel and provide grant for alternative machinery
- Analyse and reduce causes of secondary particulates, like ammonia in fertilizers
- Evaluate the emissions/carbon footprint of food imports

Proposal 8: Home Delivery Services

- Electrification of delivery vehicles
- Targets set for retailers to reduce emissions through clustering the timing of delivery along routes
- Support capacity for farms to deliver directly to consumers including to food charities
- Promote local production to reduce emissions

Proposal 9: Indoor Air quality

Normally we spend 90% of time indoors, but lockdown has forced us to spend even longer in our homes exposed to indoor air pollution from construction materials emitting volatile organic compounds and formaldehyde, lack of ventilation, use of cleaning and cosmetic products, candles, cooking, damp and mould which causes respiratory problems in particular when combined with outdoor air pollution. The government should ensure people know how to reduce and remove pollutants from their homes.

- An awareness campaign to help people reduce indoor pollution by opening windows and using extractor fans when cooking
- A review of chemicals that are included in products, including flame retardants
- A revision of public building regulation to incorporate indoor air pollution
- Reduce air pollution outside homes and restrict building near tobusy roads

Proposal 10: Sustainable Industry

Government support for businesses and jobs should be designed to shape a greener economy so bailouts should factor in the businesses' plans to transition toward net-zero.

Proposal 11: Data Collection & Research

Dealing with this pandemic has given us a unique opportunity for analysis. Data could be affected by factors like weather conditions, behavioural change, demography which affect the level and impact of pollution and action should be revised in line with new evidence.

- Air pollution monitors in each local authority and data made publicly available
- Air quality controls for ports, waterways and airports

Proposal 12: The Environment Bill

The Environment Bill is the vehicle to enforce the government's Clean Air Strategy but fails to live up to a clear commitment to set ambitious, legally binding targets. The Bill should be an holistic response to how we improve our environment. The Coronavirus pandemic has highlighted the gaps in the government's approach and the reason why measures must be introduced to protect public health.

- World Health Organisation air quality standards to be included in the Environment Bill with the deadline of 2030
- Include Indoor Air Quality in the Bill

Bibliography

Foreword

- Centre for Research on Energy and Clean Air. 2020. How air pollution worsens the COVID-19 pandemic. Available at: https://energyandcleanair.org/wp/wpcontent/uplo ads/2020/04/CREA-Europe-COVID-impacts.pdf (Accessed May 8)
- Grigg, J. et al.(2020). 'Traffic-derived particulate matter and angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 expression in human airway epithelial cells'. [Preprint] Available at: https://www.biorxiv.org/content/10.1101/2020.05.15.097501v2 (Accessed May 28)
- Hernandez, M. (2020). 'This is the effect coronavirus has had on air pollution all across the world', Available at: https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2020/04/coron avirus-covid19-air-pollution-enviroment-nature-lockdown/ (Accessed May 8)
- Jiang XQ, Mei XD, Feng D. 2020. 'Air pollution and chronic airway diseases: what should people know and do?' *J ThoracDis*. 2016;8(1):E31-E40. doi:10.3978/j.issn.2072-1439.2015.11.50
- Ogen Y. (2020). 'Assessing nitrogen dioxide (NO2) levels as a contributing factor to coronavirus (COVID-19) fatality' *Sci*

TotalEnviron.

726. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.138605

• Setti, L. et al, (2020). SARS-Cov-2 RNA Found on Particulate Matter of Bergamo in Northern Italy: First Preliminary Evidence. [Preprint]. Available at:

https://www.medrxiv.org/content/10.1101/2020.0 4.15.20065995v2 (Accessed May 8)

• Travaglio, M., Yu, Y., Popovic, R., Leal, N. S., & Martins, L. M. 2020. 'Links between air pollution and COVID-19 in England'. [Pre-Print]. *Available at:*

https://www.medrxiv.org/content/10.1101/2020.0 4.16.20067405v3 (Accessed May 8)

 Venter Z. et al (2020). 'COVID-19 lockdowns cause global air pollution declines with implications for public health risk'. [Pre-Print]. Available at:

https://www.medrxiv.org/content/10.1101/2020.0 4.10.20060673v1 (Accessed May 8)

- Wu X, Nethery RC, Sabath BM, et al. 'Exposure to air pollution and COVID-19 mortality in the United States: A nationwide cross-sectional study'. [Pre-print] Availableat:https://www.medrxiv.org/content/10.1 101/2020.04.05.20054502v2 (Accessed May 8)
- Lelieveld, J. et al. (2019). 'Cardiovascular disease burden from ambient air pollution in Europe reassessed using novel hazard ratio functions'. *European Heart Journal*, Volume 40,

Issue 20, 21, pages 1590–1596. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehz135 (Accessed May 8)

Economic Benefits of Clean Air

- Busca (2016, December 7). 'Is cycling to work really cheaper than public transport?' *The BBC*. Retrieved from:
- https://www.bbc.com/worklife/article/20161206is-cycling-to-work-really-cheaper-than-publictransport (Accessed May 8)
- European Commission (2019). *Urban mobility*. Available at:
- https://ec.europa.eu/transport/themes/urban/urban_mobility_en (Accessed May 8)
- Lawlor, E. (2013). 'The pedestrian pound. Just Economics for Living Streets'. *Living Streets*. London. Available at: from https://www.livingstreets.org.uk/media/3890/ped estrian-pound-2018.pdf (Accessed May 8)
- Royal College of Physicians (2016). *Every breath we take: the lifelong impact of air pollution*. Available at:
- https://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/projects/outputs/every-breath-we-take-lifelong-impact-air-pollution (Accessed May 8)

Proposal 1: Working

• Durio, S (2018). 'Remote Work in India: A New Normal?' World Wide Erc, August 9. Available at:

https://www.worldwideerc.org/news/remotework-in-india-a-new-normal (Accessed May 8)

- McKinsey and Company. (2020). COVID-19: Briefing materials. Available at: https://www.mckinsey.com/~/media/mckinsey/business%20functions/risk/our%20insights/covid%2019%20implications%20for%20business/covid%2019%20april%2013/covid-19-facts-andinsights-april-13.ashx (Accessed May 8)
- Thomas, D. (2020, 17 March). 'Coronavirus compels companies to embrace remote working'. The Financial Times. Retrieved from: https://www.ft.com/content/5dc60b96-669c-11ea-800d-da70cff6e4d3
- UK Department for Transport,
 (2016). Commuting trends in England 1988 2015. Available at:
 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/877039/commuting-in-england-1988-2015.pdf
 (Accessed May 8)

Proposal 2: Cycling and Pedestrianisation

• CEDAR 2019. Evidence Brief 18 - Active travel: function over form. Available at:https://www.cedar.iph.cam.ac.uk/resources/evidence/eb18-active-travel-function-over-form (Accessed May 8)

- Fishman, E. (2015). 'Bikeshare: A Review of Recent Literature'. Transport Reviews, 36(1), 92–113. doi: 10.1080/01441647.2015.1033036
- Qin, N., Liang, P., Wu, C., Wang, G., Xu,
- Q., Xiong, X., ... Zhu, T. F. (2020). 'Longitudinal survey of microbiome associated with particulate matter in a megacity'. Genome Biology,
- 21(1). doi: 10.1186/s13059-020-01964-x
- Transport and Environment (2019). Low-Emission Zones are a success - but they must now move to zero-emission mobility. Available at:

https://www.transportenvironment.org/sites/te/file s/publications/2019_09_Briefing_LE Z-ZEZ_final.pdf (Accessed May 8)

- UK Department for Transport. (2016). Commuting trends in England 1988 -
- 2015. Available at:
- https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/877039/commuting-in-england-1988-2015.pdf (Accessed May 8)
- UK Department for Transport. (2017). Cycling and Walking Investment Strategy. Available at: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/877039/commuting-in-england-1988-2015.pdf (Accessed May 8)
- Venter, Z. S., Aunan, K., Chowdhury, S.,
 Lelieveld, J. (2020). 'COVID-19 lockdowns

cause global air pollution declines with implications for public health risk'. [Pre-Print]. Available at:

https://www.medrxiv.org/content/10.1101/2020.0 4.10.20060673v1 (Accessed May 8)

- Sustrans 2020. Re-allocating road space to make walking and cycling safer during Covid-19 and beyond. Available at: https://www.sustrans.org.uk/for-professionals/urban-design-and-planning/re-allocatin g-road-space-to-make-walking-and-cycling-safer-during-covid-19-and-beyond/ (Accessed May 8)
- Woodcock, J., Tainio, M., Cheshire, J., O'Brien, O., & Goodman, A. (2014). 'Health effects of the London bicycle sharing system: health impact modelling study'. *The British Journal of Medicine*. Available at: https://www.bmj.com/content/348/bmj.g425 (Accessed May 8)

Proposal 3: Public Transport

- European Commission (2019). *Urban mobility*. Available at:https://ec.europa.eu/transport/themes/urban/urban_mobility_en
- Sasidharan, M., Singh, A., Torbaghan, M. E.,
 Parlikad, A. K. (2020). A vulnerability-based approach to human-mobility reduction for countering COVID-19 transmission in London

while considering local air quality. [Pre-Print]. Available at:

https://www.medrxiv.org/content/10.1101/2020.0 4.13.20060798v1 (Accessed May 8)

• Symonds, T., & May, C. (2020, April 30). 'Coronavirus: Tube may be 'overwhelmed' when lockdown is lifted, report warns'. BBC. Retrieved from: https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-london-52481522.

Proposal 4: Private Transport

- Archer G, (2019, September 17). How to shift the UK from also ran to winner in the electric car race. *Green Alliance Blog*. Available at: https://greenallianceblog.org.uk/2019/09/17/howto-shift-the-uk-from-also-ran-to-winner-in-theelectric-car-race/ (Accessed May 8)
- European Environmental Bureau (2020, April 21). Air pollution returns to China (press release) Retrieved from https://eeb.org/air-pollution-returns-to-china
- London Government (2019, October 25). ULEZ reduces 13,500 cars daily & cuts toxic air pollution by a third. (press release). Retrieved from https://www.london.gov.uk/press-releases/mayoral/ulez-reduces-polluting-cars-by-13 500-every-day (Accessed May 8)
- London Government (2020, April 23).
 Dramatic improvements in air quality on London's roads (press release). Retrieved from

https://www.london.gov.uk/pressreleases/mayoral/dramatic-improvements-in-airquality

- Transport Environment (2019). Funding purchase grants for zero emissions cars in a growing UK market, Available at: https://www.transportenvironment.org/sites/te/file s/publications/Incentivising%20electric%20cars %20in%20a%20growing%20market%20FINAL.p df (Accessed May 8)
- Transport & Environment (2020). New diesels, new problems. Available at: https://www.transportenvironment.org/sites/te/file s/publications/2020_01_New_diesels_new_probl ems_full_report.pdf (Accessed May 8)
- Laker, L. (2020, April 21,). Milan announces ambitious scheme to reduce car use after lockdown. *The Guardian*. Retrieved from: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2020/apr/21/milan-seeks-to-prevent-post-crisis-return-of-traffic-pollution

Proposal 5: Face Masks

 Morawska L, Cao J. (2020) 'Airborne transmission of SARS-CoV-2: The world should face the reality'. *Environ Int*.139:105730. doi:10.1016/j.envint.2020.10573 0 (Accessed May 8)

- Suess T, Remschmidt C, Schink SB, et al. (2012). 'The role of facemasks and hand hygiene in the prevention of influenza transmission in households: results from a cluster randomised trial'. BMC Infect Dis. 2012;12:26. doi:10.1186/1471-2334-12-26 (Accessed May 8)
- Wang, B., Liu, J., Fu, S., Xu, X., Li, L., Ma, Y., ... Zhang, K. (2020). 'An effect assessment of Airborne particulate matter pollution on COVID-19: A multi-city Study in China'. [Pre-Print]. Available at

https://www.medrxiv.org/content/10.1101/2020.0 4.09.20060137v1 (Accessed May 8)

- World Health Organisation (2020). Advice on the use of masks in the context of COVID-19. Available at: https://www.who.int/publicationsdetail/advice-on-the-use-of-masks-in-thecommunity-during-home-care-and-in-healthcaresettings-in-the-context-of-the-novel-coronavirus-(2019-ncov)-outbreak (Accessed May 8)
- UCL Plastic Waste Innovation Hub (2020). The environmental dangers of employing single-use face masks as part of a COVID-19 exit strategy. Available at: https://www.plasticwastehub.org.uk/ (Accessed May 8)

Proposal 6: Wood and Coal Burning

- Air Quality Expert Group, (2017) Report: The Potential Air Quality Impacts from Biomass Combustion. Available at: https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/library/reports?report_id=935 (Accessed May 8)
- Hughes, L. (2020, Feb 21) 'England bans sale of coal and wet wood to improve air quality'. *The Financial Times. Retrieved* from https://www.ft.com/content/2ea9dbce-5483-11ea-90ad-25e377c0ee1f

Proposal 7: Agriculture

- Air Quality Expert Group (2018). *Air Pollution from Agriculture*, Available at: https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/assets/documents/reports/aqeg/2800829_Agricultural_emissions_vfinal2.pdf (Accessed May 8)
- National Farmers' Union of England and Wales (2019). *Achieving Net Zero Farming's 2040 goal*. Available at: https://www.nfuonline.com/nfu-online/business/regulation/achieving-net-zero-farmings-2040-goal (Accessed May 8)

Proposal 8: Home Delivery Services

• Coley, D., Howard, M., & Winter, M. (2009). 'Local food, food miles and carbon emissions: A comparison of farm shop and mass distribution approaches'. Food Policy, 34(2), 150–155. doi: 10.1016/j.foodpol.2008.11.001

• Wygonik, E., & Goodchild, A. (2012). 'Evaluating the Efficacy of Shared-use Vehicles for Reducing Greenhouse Gas Emissions: A U.S. Case Study of Grocery Delivery'. *Journal of the Transportation Research Forum*, vol 51(2). doi: 10.5399/osu/jtrf.51.2.2926

Proposal 9: Indoor Air Quality

- Environment, Food and Rural Affairs Committee (2015). Air Quality Fourth Report of Session 2015-16. Available at:https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm20151 6/cmselect/cmenvfru/479/479.pdf (Accessed May 8)
- Hoffman K, Lorenzo A, Butt CM, et al (2017) Exposure to flame retardant chemicals and occurrence and severity of papillary thyroid cancer: A case-control study. *Environ Int.* 107:235-

242.doi:10.1016/j.envint.2017.06.021

- Holgate, S. (2018) Indoor air pollution: a neglected yet important risk to public health.
 Open Access Government. Available at: https://www.openaccessgovernment.org/indoor-air-pollution-public-health/51024 (Accessed May 8)
- Royal College of Physicians (2020). The inside story: Health effects of indoor air quality on children and young people. Available at:

https://www.rcpch.ac.uk/resources/inside-story-health-effects-indoor-air-quality-children-young-people (Accessed May 8)

Proposal 10: Sustainable Industry

• Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy (2018) *Clean Growth Strategy*. Available at:

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/clean-growth-strategy (Accessed May 8)

- Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy (2019) *The UK's Industrial Strategy.* Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/topical-events/the-uks-industrial-strategy (Accessed May 8)
- · Hepburn, C. Et al (2020). 'Will COVID-19 fiscal recovery packages accelerate or retard progress on climate change'. *Oxford Review of Economic Policy* 36(S1). Available at: https://www.smithschool.ox.ac.uk/publications/wpapers/workingpaper20-02.pdf (Accessed May 8)

Proposal 11: Data Collection and Research

• Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy (2018) *Clean Growth Strategy*. Available at:

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/clean-growth-strategy (Accessed May 8)

 Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy (2019) The UK's Industrial Strategy.
 Available

at:https://www.gov.uk/government/topicalevents/the-uks-industrial-strategy (Accessed May 8)

Proposal 12: The Environment Bill

 Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs (2019) 25 Year Environment Plan.
 Available at:

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/25year-environment-plan (Accessed May 8)

• Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs et al (2019) *Clean Air Strategy 2019*. Available at:

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/clean-air-strategy-2019 (Accessed May 8)

• Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs (2020, Jan 30). Environment Bill sets out vision for a greener future (press release) Retrieved from

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/environme nt-bill-sets-out-vision-for-a-greener-future

• Parliament, House of Commons (2020). Environment Bill (Bills 2019-21 9) Available at,

https://services.parliament.uk/bills/2019-21/environment.html